COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

2018 JUL 18 AM 11: 42

96105-1

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

7/20/2018

BY SUSAN L. CARLSON

CLERK

STATE OF WASHINGTON

NO. 50566-5-II

DE PUEV

COURT OF APPEALS

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION II

ALFREDO SUAREZ, PETITONER,

v.

MASCO CORPORATION, RESPONDENT.

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT OF

WASHINGTON

BUSICK HAMRICK PALMER PLLC STEVEN L. BUSICK Attorney for Appellant/Petitioner

By Steven L. Busick, WSBA #1643 Busick Hamrick Palmer PLLC PO Box 1385 Vancouver, WA 98666 360-696-0228

Introduction
Issue for Review
Consideration for Acceptance of Review
Statement of the Case
Argument9
Conclusion
Appendix A: Letter of Determination to Decide Case without Oral Argument
Appendix B: Request to Change Decision to Decide Case without Oral Argument
Appendix C: Order Denying Motion for Oral Argument
Appendix D: Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division II

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

STATUTES

RCW 51.52.115, ER 611 (a)7				
RCW 51.52.1157				
CASES				
Turning 1 : Michall 156 Wn 24 650 670 671 121 D 24 205 (2006)				
Trummel v. Michell, 156 Wn. 2d 659, 670-671, 131 P. 3d 305 (2006)				
Recall of Lindquest, 172. Wn 2d 120, 130, 258 P3d 9 (2011)				
People v. Marshal 165 Ill. App. 3d 968, 521, N.E. 2d 538, 547 (1987)7				
People v. Daily 41 Ill. Sec. 2d 116, 242 N.E. 2d 170 (1968)				
RULES				
RAP 11.4(j)8				

INTRODUCTION

Alfredo Suarez was denied access to justice by the refusal of the trial court to continue the jury trial to an available third day for jury instruction on oral argument of counsel, and by the court of appeals in denying oral argument.

ISSUE FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying Mr. Suarez motion to continue the jury trial to an available third day for jury instructions and oral argument of counsel?
- 2. Did the Court of Appeal abuse its desretion on refusing oral argument over the objection of Mr. Suarez?

CONSIDERATIONS FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW

Mr. Suarez maintains that there is a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington, and this appeal involves an issue of subtantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Alfredo Suarez came to the United States from Mexico in 1979. He has a second grade education in Mexico, does not read or write in Spanish or

English, and speaks only Spanish. Since coming to the United States, he has worked as a farm laborer in California, and a production worker and insulation installer in Washington. On June 27, 2012, Mr. Suarez injured his neck and right shoulder rolling a bundle of insulation up to a house under construction when the bundle suddenly started to fall down a slope, and he reached out to grab it with his right arm. Mr. Suarez had a cervical microdisectomy at C6-7 in November of 2012 to repair a herniated disc, and right shoulder surgery in July 2013 to break up adhesions that had formed.

After the shoulder surgery, Mr. Suarez was cleared to return to work light duty four hours a day separating work orders at Masco. Mr. Suarez is right handed, and was forced to use his left hand due to ongoing pain in his right shoulder and arm. Mr. Suarez developed left shoulder pain do to overuse, was not able to lift his left arm, and discontinued working after three months. Mr. Suarez changed treating physicians to Richard Heitsch, MD, in September 2013, and on October 11, 2013, Dr. Heitsch took Mr. Suarez off work. Masco Corporation, the self-insured employer, refused to pay Mr. Suarez time loss benefits, and on December 19, 2014, the Department of labor and Industries ordered Masco to pay time loss through December 10, 2014. Masco Corporation appealed the Department order to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals.

The appeal was assigned to an Industrial Appeal Judge, and the case proceeded to a full evidentiary hearing. Mr. Suarez, his wife Luz Carillo, nephew Victor Arroola, and Dr. Heitsch testified on behalf of Mr. Suarez; and vocational counselor Todd Martin, and Dr. Clarence Fossier, Dr. John

Thompson, and Dr. Thomas Rosenbaum, who had each conducted independent medical evaluations of Mr. Suarez for the employer, testified for Masco. The Industrial Appeals Judge reversed the Department order to pay time loss benefits, and Mr. Suarez petitioned the Board for review. The petition was summarily denied without review. Mr. Suarez appealed to Superior court for Clark County, and the case proceeded to a six person jury trial.

At the commencement of the trial, the trial court advised the jury,

We generally don't stay be past 5:00 o'clock. The reason is there's some staffing and overtime issues for the courthouse here so in order to avoid running up extra expense we try to be out promptly at 5:00 o'clock RP 2-3

The afternoon of the first day of trial the testimony of Mr. Suarez, Ms. Carillo, Mr. Arroola, and Dr. Heitsch was read to the jury, Mr. Suarez rested, and the testimonial of Mr. Martin VRC concluded the first day's testimony. Court recessed at 4:42 p.m. and the trial court's concluding statement to the jury was that they needed to be back in the jury room the next morning at 8:45 a.m. in order to start trial promptly at 9:00 a.m., RP, at 3.

The next morning, Tuesday, April 25, 2017, the trial court had without notice to the parties scheduled other matters to commence at 9:00 a.m., and trial did not reconvene until 10:17 a.m. with the reading of the defense doctor's testimony. The trial court broke for lunch just before noon with an announced resumption at 1:30 p.m., which did not resume until 1:45 p.m. The reading of the testimony concluded at 3:25, and the trial court announced a recess, Mr.

Suarez then moved to continue the trial to his following day for jury instructions and oral arguments on the basis that the jury would not receive the case until after 4:00 p.m. and would only have until 5:00 p.m. to deliberate. The jury would feel rushed to conclude deliberations by 5:00 p.m., and in the interest of justice it would be better that the jury come back the next morning to hear jury instructions and the arguments of counsel. RP, at 6

Mr. Suarez, pointed out that jury had previously been advised that the trial could last three days, and the trial court and counsel were available for a third day of trial. In the interest of justice a continuance would be appropriate under the circumstances. Masco opposed the motion, and argued that the jury could take more time if they wanted. RP, at 6-7 The trial court denied the motion stating.

Well I'll note that it's basically an item within the discretion of the court. I'm in favor of good time management. They've already given up two days. They were advised that the trial could certainly go three days.

So I'm inclined – it will take probably ten minutes or less to read the instructions and then we go to closings. So let's see how far they get today and they can certainly be informed that if they need to come back tomorrow morning they'll have time to do that RP, at 7.

After the trial court's instructions to the jury, closing arguments of counsel, and rebuttal, the jury did not retire to deliberate until 4:39 p.m., about the same time they had recessed the previous day. The jury at no time was ever advised by the trial court that they could come back for a third day to continue deliberations. After the jury announced that they had a verdict,

counsel and the court clerk were called and returned to the court room, and the jury was brought in and announced their verdict at 5:08 p.m. in favor of Masco Corporation. Mr. Suarez then appealed the jury verdict to the Court of Appeals, Decision Two, on the basis that the trial court abused its discretion in not continuing the trial to an available third day for the courts instructions to the jury and the closing arguments of counsel. Mr. Suarez filed his Brief of Appellant, Masco filed its Respondents Brief, Mr. Suarez filed his Reply Brief, the Court of Appeals denied oral argument over the objection of Mr. Suarez, and issued its unpublished opinion on June 19, 2018, deciding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Mr. Suarez motion of continuance of the trial to the following morning.

ARGUMENT

The trial court abused its discretion in not granting Mr. Suarez's motion for a continuance to an available third day for jury instructions and closing arguments, after the trial court had scheduled an unrelated hearing delaying the commencement of trial the second day by 1 hour and 17 minutes, so that jury did not receive the case until 4:39 in the afternoon. By the trial court at the commencement of trial advising the jury that generally we don't stay past 5:00 o'clock because of staffing and overtime issues, there was a limitation placed on the jury to conclude deliberations by 5:00 p.m., and the jury was never advised that they could take more time if necessary, or come back the next day. The jury then announced their verdict at 5:00 p.m. that day in favor of the employer.

Whether a motion for continuance should be granted or denied is a matter of discretion with the trial court, reviewable on appeal for manifest abuse of discretion. In exercising its discretion, a trial court may properly consider the necessity of reasonably prompt disposition of the litigation, the needs of the moving party, the possible prejudice to the adverse party, the prior continuances granted the moving party, and any other matters that have a material bearing on the exercise of the discretion vested in the court. A court abuses its discretion when its decision is based upon a ground, or to an extent, clearly untenable or manifestly unreasonable. *Trummel v. Mitchell*, 156 Wn. 2d 659, 670-671, 131 P. 3d 305 (2006). Since the trial court here had limited court proceedings to 5:00 o'clock, and had delayed commencement of trial the second day by 1 hour and 17 minutes, so that the jury did not receive the case until 4:39 p.m. that day, there is no tenable reason why the court should not have granted the continuance to the available third day, especially when the jury had initially been advised that the trial could go three days.

The grant or denial of a continuance is a discretionary ruling, because the court must consider various factors such as diligence, materiality, due process, a need for an orderly procedure and the possible impact of the result on the trial. *Recall of Lindquest*, 172. Wn 2d 120, 130, 258 P3d 9 (2011). The entire second day of trial was taken up with reading the three defense doctors testimony, who were all specialist, as opposed to Mr. Suarez's doctor the first day, who was not a specialist. The impact of the jury then receiving the case at 4:39 p.m. the second day with only 21 minutes to deliberate was a devastating impact on Mr. Suarez case, which was not considered by the trial

court.

ER 611 (a) cited by the Court of Appeals here states,

The court shall exercise reasonable presenting evidence so as to (1) make the interrogation and presentation effective for the ascertainment of the truth, (2) avoid needless consumption of time, and (3) protect witnesses from harassment or undue embarrassment.

Since this case was on appeal from a decision of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals, and the testimony is read to the jury pursuant to RCW 51.52.115, ER 611 (a) would not apply. RCW 51.52.115, provides that a full opportunity to be heard be given, and with limitations placed on jury deliberations, Mr. Suarez was denied a full opportunity for his case to be considered by the jury.

The Court of Appeals cites *People in Marshal* 165 Ill. App. 3d 968, 521, N.E. 2d 538, 547 (1987) for the rule that the length of jury deliberations is a matter within the trial court's discretion, and points out that the jury did not retire until 9:42 p.m. There, after denial of defendant's motion for a continuance, a lengthy delay resulted from the court's efforts to determine whether defendant was diligent in his attempts to secure witnesses, and the defendant refused to rest. That case cites *People v. Daily* 41 Sec. 2d 116, 242 N.E. 2d 170 (1968), where after 6 ½ hours of deliberations, the trial judge recalled the jury to ascertain if a verdict had been reached. The foreman announced that it had not, and without disclosing how the jury stood, stated there had been no change in voting for two to three hours. The court then

directed the jurors to return to the jury room for further deliberations, and a

short time later a verdict of guilty was returned. These Illinois cases hardly

apply to the facts here in which the jury was not given a full opportunity to

deliberate.

Mr. Suarez agrees that the jury was not expressly told that it must reach

a verdict by 5:00 p.m., but the implication was there by statements previously

made to the jury by the court, and the jury was never advised that they could

come back the next day for deliberations. No reasonable judge would deny the

motion for continuance under the circumstances here and not advise the jury

they could continue their deliberations the next day if necessary.

Pursuant to RAP 11.4(j) the Appellate court may on its own incentive

decide a case without oral argument. At the same time pursuant to subsection

(f) the court ordinarily encourages oral argument. In this case involving a

denial of a motion for continuance of a jury trial which has due process

implications, and the issue is whether the trial court abused its discretion, the

failure to allow oral argument is an abuse of discretion. However, at this time,

Mr. Suarez is requesting a new trial, and not the opportunity to argue before

the Court of Appeals.

//////

//////

/////

8

CONCLUSION

The Supreme Court of the State of Washington should accept review of the Unpublished Opinion of the Court of Appeals Division Two dated June 19, 2018.