# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/10/2018 4:10 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court Case No. 96105-1 Court of Appeals Case No. 50566-5-II

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ALFREDO SUAREZ, Petitioner,

VS.

MASCO CORPORATION, Respondent

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gress, Clark, Young & Schoepper 8705 SW Nimbus Avenue, Suite 240 Beaverton, Oregon 97008

Rebecca K. Corcoran, WSBA #51995

James L. Gress, WSBA #25731 Attorneys for Respondent

#

II.	ISSUES FOR REVIEW
III.	CONSIDERATIONS FOR ACCEPTANCE OF
	<b>REVIEW</b> 1
IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
v.	ARGUMENT
	A. The Court of Appeals Properly Affirmed the Trial
	Court's Discretion in Denying Mr. Suarez's
	Motion for Continuance 3
	B. The Court of Appeals' Decision on Oral Argument is
	within its Discretion4
	C. Attorney's Fees4
VI.	<b>CONCLUSION</b> 5

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

# CASES

<i>In re Marriage of Littlefield</i> , 133 Wn.2d 39, 46-47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997)
Coggle v. Snow, 56 Wn. App. 499, 504, 784 P.2d 554 (1990)4
State ex rel. Clark v. Hogan, 49 Wn.2d 457, 303 P.2d 290 (1956)4
Trummel v. Mitchell, 156 Wn.2d 653, 131 P.3d 305 (2006)4
STATUTES
RCW 51.52.1154, 5
RCW 51.52.1304
RCW 51.52.1405
RULES
RAP 13.4 (b)1
ER 611 (a)4
ER 1101 (c)5
RAP 11.4 (j)5, 6
RAP 18.1 (j)6
CODES
WAC 263-12-1255

## I. INTRODUCTION

The trial court denying Mr. Suarez's Motion for Continuance was not an abuse of discretion. Likewise, the Court of Appeals was well within its discretion to deny oral argument. There was no abuse of discretion in either situation.

## II. ISSUES FOR REVIEW

- 1. Was the trial court within its appropriate discretion in denying Mr. Suarez's Motion for Continuance when there was sufficient time remaining in the jury trial?
- 2. Was the Court of Appeals within its discretion in denying Mr. Suarez's request for oral argument?

## III. CONSIDERATIONS FOR ACCEPTANCE OF REVIEW

A Petition for Review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. (RAP 13.4 (b)).

Mr. Suarez has not provided any indication that this decision is in conflict with any previous Supreme Court or Court of Appeals' opinions. The two issues that Mr. Suarez is alleging do not represent issues of substantial

public interest or significant questions of law. The discretion of the trial judge to maintain order and time management within his court is well established within case law. There is also no substantial right for oral argument and the Court of Appeals' opinion and denial of oral argument is squarely within its discretion as dictated by statute. There is no issue that needs to be addressed by the Supreme Court and therefore the Court of Appeals' decision should be upheld.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Alfredo Suarez appealed a Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals' decision to the Superior Court for Clark County. The BIIA reversed a Department order directing Masco Corporation to pay time loss benefits. The case proceeded to a six-person jury trial on April 24, 2017. At the commencement of the trial, the trial court advised the jury on the general schedule of proceedings, including that the court starts promptly at 9:00 a.m. and that the court generally doesn't stay past 5:00 p.m.

Mr. Suarez rested his case on the first day of the trial. On April 25, 2017, around 3:20 p.m. Mr. Suarez's attorney requested a Motion to Continue.

Judge David Gregerson denied this motion. At 4:39 p.m. the jury retired to begin deliberations. At 5:08 p.m. the jury returned with a unanimous verdict affirming the Decision and Order of the Board of Industrial

Insurance Appeals dated April 12, 2016. Mr. Suarez then appealed the jury verdict to the Court of Appeals, Division II, on the theory that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his Motion for Continuance. The Court of Appeals decided, without oral argument, that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Mr. Suarez's motion and issued an unpublished opinion on June 19, 2018.

## V. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals Properly Affirmed the Trial Court's Discretion in Denying Mr. Suarez's Motion for Continuance

Mr. Suarez argues that the trial court abused its discretion when denying his Motion for Continuance on April 25, 2017. "A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons." *In re Marriage of Littlefield*, 133 Wn.2d 39, 46-47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997). In this instance there was no indication that the trial court acted unreasonably in its ruling.

Mr. Suarez provides no justifying cases in which the judge's conduct in this case would rise to the level of abuse of discretion. While there have been examples of a trial court abusing discretion in the matter of

motions for continuance, the employer could find no example of requesting a motion for the sake of jury deliberation. In Coggle v. Snow, the Court noted: "The ruling on the motions for a continuance and for reconsideration is within the discretion of the trial court and is reversible by an appellate court only for a manifest abuse of discretion." Coggle v. Snow, 56 Wn. App. 499, 504, 784 P.2d 554 (1990). Here, the trial court judge clearly states in his reasoning that he is "in favor of good time management." (Report of Proceedings at 7 lines 12-14). "Judicial discretion is a composite of many things, among which are conclusions drawn from objective criteria; it means a sound judgment exercised with regard to what is right under the circumstances and without doing so arbitrarily or capriciously." State ex rel. Clark v. Hogan, 49 Wn.2d 457, 303 P.2d 290 (1956). Additionally, "[i]n exercising its discretion, a court may properly consider the necessity of reasonably prompt disposition of the litigation". Trummel v. Mitchell, 156 Wn.2d 653, 670, 131 P.3d 305 (2006). Appellant argues that time management is an arbitrary and capricious decision which seems counter to the facts.

Mr. Suarez further argues that the Court of Appeals is flawed in its logic applying ER 611 to this case. There is no reason that ER 611 would not apply in this situation. As the Court of Appeals cites, "The court shall exercise reasonable presenting evidence so as to . . . (2) avoid needless

consumption of time . . . "Mr. Suarez argues that under RCW 51.52.115 this entire rule shall not apply. This is in error. This is in error. ER 1101 clearly states in which situations these evidentiary rules do not apply. Worker's compensation appeals is noticeably absent from that list.

Furthermore, WAC 263-12-125 and RCW 51.52.140 both explicitly state that the civil rules apply to worker's compensation cases. Just because live testimony is not used in worker's compensation appeals under RCW 51.52.115, it does not imply that the rules of evidence do not apply or that the court somehow loses its interest in avoiding the needless consumption of time. While the employer agrees that without live testimony the risk of witness harassment would not be applicable, it does not cause the entire evidentiary rule to be void.

# A. The Court of Appeals' Decision on Oral Argument is within its Discretion

Pursuant to RAP 11.4(j) the appellate court may, on its own initiative or on motion of a party, decide a case without oral argument. Appellant provides zero explanation or case law to support why this is an abuse of discretion for the appellate court. Though he alleges that this case has due process implications, he does not indicate how that affects oral arguments. There is no fundamental right to oral arguments and if the appellate court does not feel that it will bring illumination to any issue,

argument. Only approximately one-third of cases hear oral arguments in Division II because of the sheer quantity of cases that are on appeal. The appellate courts have, in recent years, trended away from hearing oral argument in order to increase efficiency, and there is no abuse of discretion where a panel of judges has decided not to waste the Court's time.

## B. Attorney's Fees

Pursuant to RCW 51.52.130 and RAP 18.1(j), the self-insured employer requests reasonable fees and expenses for prevailing at the Court of Appeals and timely filing this answer to the Petition for Review.

#### VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the preceding evidence, there is no indication that the either the trial court or the Court of Appeals abused its discretion in not granting Mr. Suarez's Motion for Continuance or oral argument. Pursuant to RAP 11.4(j), the Court of Appeals is firmly within its discretion to not hear oral argument. Motions for continuance and time management are within the discretion of the Court. Furthermore, there is an interest in not creating procedural delays, which makes the decisions of both the trial court and the Court of Appeals' decisions far from arbitrary and capricious.

The employer respectfully requests that you deny the Petition for Review and sustain the Court of Appeals' correct decision.

Rebecca K. Corcoran, WSBA #51995

James L. Gress, WSBA #25731 Gress, Clark, Young & Schoepper 8705 SW Nimbus Avenue, Suite #240